
 

 
 

 
Oaklands Road  
Haywards Heath  
West Sussex  
RH16 1SS 

 
Switchboard:  01444 458166 

 
DX 300320 Haywards Heath 1 

www.midsussex.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Working together for a better Mid Sussex 

 
 

10 December 2021 
 
Meetings of Council Committees are broadcast live through the Mid Sussex District 
Council’s YouTube channel. Owing to continuing public health restrictions, very limited 
space is available to observe proceedings in-person. Those wishing to do so must reserve a 
seat by completing a Registration Form by 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 
 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of CABINET will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER at these offices on MONDAY, 

20TH DECEMBER, 2021 at 4.00 pm when your attendance is requested. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

KATHRYN HALL 

Chief Executive 

 

A G E N D A 
 

  Pages 
 

1.   To receive Declarations of Interest from Members in respect of any 
matter on the Agenda. 
 

 

2.   To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

3.   To confirm Minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 and 29 
November 2021. 
 

3 - 10 

4.   To consider any items that the Leader agrees to take as urgent 
business. 
 

 

5.   Clair Hall Site. 
 

11 - 68 

6.   To consider whether to exclude the Press and Public from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items in accordance with Section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 

 

7.   To confirm Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting held on 29 69 - 70 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCW9I9y-TZXZs6jOFmOgiPyQ
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCW9I9y-TZXZs6jOFmOgiPyQ
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=-eSNJDXRzEikyLq9fp6HA9bpuBnSAjJAin_Z_JzHlupURERZQlBYOTdTMzYxT0JYQkVTOEg0WTAzMi4u


 
 

November 2021. 
 

 
 
To: Members of Cabinet: Councillors J Ash-Edwards (Chair), J Llewellyn-Burke (Vice-Chair), 

J Belsey, R de Mierre, S Hillier, R Salisbury and N Webster 
 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Cabinet 
held on Thursday, 18th November, 2021 

from 5.00 pm - 5.15 pm 
 
 

Present: J Ash-Edwards (Chair) 
J Llewellyn-Burke (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

J Belsey 
R de Mierre 
 

S Hillier 
R Salisbury 
 

N Webster 
 

 
 

1. TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT OF 
ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA.  
 
None. 
 

2. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
No apologies were received as all Members were present. 
 

3. TO CONFIRM MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 18 OCTOBER 
2021.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2021 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Leader. 
 

4. TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE LEADER AGREES TO TAKE AS URGENT 
BUSINESS.  
 
None. 
 

5. INTRODUCTION OF FLEXIBLE SEASON TICKETS AND REVIEW OF PAY AND 
DISPLAY PARKING CHARGES.  
 
Judy Holmes, Assistant Chief Executive introduced the report.   She highlighted that  
the Council’s adopted Parking Strategy proposed the development of an investment 
strategy and the introduction of differential tariffs in the current financial year.  Due to 
the impact of the pandemic the consultants’ advice was not to proceed with the 
introduction of differential tariffs at this time.  There was however a proposal that 
parking charges should be aligned more closely to those of neighbouring authorities; 
and with inflation, given that the Council’s parking charges have not increased for 
over 10 years.  In addition, a flexible approach to season tickets is being proposed to 
respond to the changing working and commuting patterns of our communities 
following the pandemic.  She noted that the full financial implications of these 
changes are  difficult to predict at this time.  
 
The Leader confirmed a small number of comments had been received from the 
Members.   
 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 
 

The Cabinet Member for Economic Growth confirmed he supported the 
recommendations noting the proposed changes to season tickets was part of the 
Parking Strategy and was more important since the pandemic.   It was vital to 
determine the correct tariffs, the work had been complex and praised the Officers for 
their efforts. As the full impact of the pandemic was uncertain, he advised caution 
when proceeding with the further elements of the action plan until the Council has 
further clarity. 
 
The Deputy Leader confirmed that the Council is financially independent and parking 
tariffs have been low for many years.  The car parks have seen a number of 
improvements over recent years, including general maintenance, resurfacing, 
upgrading of ticket machines and the introduction of cashless parking; all with no 
increase in the tariffs.  In addition, the pandemic has impacted the Council’s income 
from parking,  so an increase is necessary. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community highlighted the cross-party working group that 
had put forward the Parking Strategy and confirmed that he supported the report 
recommendations. He also commented on changing working habits since the 
pandemic and believed an increase in the tariffs was in the best interest of the 
District. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Customer Services stated that the tariffs had to increase, 
and the proposed rates were fair.   She commented that the increased revenue 
should pay for further improvements and sought reassurance that the ticket 
machines would continue to accept cash payments. This was confirmed by the 
Assistant Chief Executive along with the introduction of an investment strategy for the 
car parks.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Service Delivery welcomed the report and 
confirmed that the Council had been looking at their car parks for a number of years 
through the cross-party Members Working Group and had commissioned an 
independent consultant to prepare the strategy. He noted that the consultants had 
advised that it was very unusual for a Council not to have increased parking charges 
for over 10 years.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning noted tariffs increase may not be 
popular and the Council needed to keep up with new technology, enable flexibility for 
the public’s use of the car parks and continue to invest in the facilities. 
 
The Leader noted the work of the cross-party working group, that tariffs had not 
increased for over 10 years.  The new tariffs would bring the charges back in line with 
inflation, and would be comparable to other neighbouring local authorities. He noted  
that further aspects of the Parking Strategy would come forward in due course, and 
would need to be considered carefully to ensure they continue  to support the vitality 
of our town centres. 
 
As there were no further questions the Leader took the Members to the 
recommendations which were agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 

 
That Cabinet recommended to Council, subject to consultation:  
i.  the introduction of flexible 3, 5 and 6 day season tickets;  

ii.  Cabinet is recommended to agree the new tariffs, as outlined in paragraph 16;  

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 4



 
 

 
 

iii. an annual inflationary review of parking charges thereafter.  
 

 
 
 

The meeting finished at 5.15 pm 
 

Chairman 
 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Cabinet 
held on Monday, 29th November, 2021 

from 4.04 pm - 4.41 pm 
 
 

Present: J Ash-Edwards (Chair) 
J Llewellyn-Burke (Vice-Chair) 

 
 

J Belsey 
R de Mierre 
 

S Hillier 
R Salisbury 
 

N Webster 
 

 
 

1. TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST FROM MEMBERS IN RESPECT OF 
ANY MATTER ON THE AGENDA.  
 
Councillor Hillier declared a non-prejudicial interest in item 6 as he is a Member of 
West Sussex County Council which is the disposal authority. 
 

2. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
No apologies were received as all Members were present. 
 

3. TO CONSIDER ANY ITEMS THAT THE LEADER AGREES TO TAKE AS URGENT 
BUSINESS.  
 
None.  
 

4. BUDGET MANAGEMENT 2021/22 – PROGRESS REPORT APRIL TO 
SEPTEMBER 2021.  
 
Peter Stuart, Head of Corporate Resources introduced the report.   He noted that 
forecast overspend should reduce to £129,000 after receipt of an estimated £377,000 
from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) Income 
Compensation scheme for the first quarter of the year.  The modest recovery in 
income from development management fees was highlighted. 
 
The Deputy Leader welcomed the reduced overspend due to the Income 
Compensation Scheme and uplift in income.  She queried whether an update was 
available regarding any extra burdens incurred by the Council or any other schemes 
to assist local authorities.  The Head of Corporate Resources highlighted the effect of 
inflation on the wider economy, that current contracts have been calculated on the 
October inflation indices and the increased rate of inflation will have a bigger effect in 
2022/23. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community expressed concern and advised that the 
Council had to be prudent going forward. 
 
Following a question from the Cabinet Member for Customer Services on the 
increased audit costs, the Head of Corporate Resources noted that only 9% of  
Councils had met their audit timetable by the end of September.  The increased audit 
fee had to be agreed by both parties and the original fee requested had been higher. 
The new Financial Management System (FMS) had increased the auditor’s workload, 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 7



 
 

 
 

there is a nationwide issue in valuing pension funds and property valuations which 
has led to an increased auditor's fee. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning noted that this is a projected figure 
for the year end. 
 
The Leader commented that the results are relative compared to last year and before 
the pandemic, and the Council would monitor the projected figure.  As there were no 
further questions the Leader took the Members to the recommendations which were 
agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 

 
That Cabinet recommends to Council  for approval:  
 
(i) That £500,000 be transferred to the JE/Redundancy Specific Reserve as detailed 
in paragraph 29;  

(ii) the variations to the Capital Programme contained in paragraph 42 in accordance 
with the Council’s Financial Procedure rule B3.  
 
And noted:  
(iii) the remainder of the report.  
 

5. PERFORMANCE MONITORING FOR THE SECOND QUARTER OF 2021/22.  
 
Peter Stuart, Head of Corporate Resources introduced the report.   He noted that the 
majority of the performance indicators were green, the report had been scrutinised 
and the Scrutiny Committee for Leader, Finance and Performance had no 
recommendations. 
 
The Deputy Leader noted it was a good report as due to Covid and the restrictions 
officers’ workloads had increased.  There were explanations for any red indicators.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Customer Services advised some indicators were yellow 
due to recent changes in rules and regulations.  The new telephony system has 
meant some figures can’t be reported as the system works differently, customer 
satisfaction data will be available in the new year and she congratulated the team. 

 
As there were no further questions the Leader took the Members to the 
recommendations which were agreed unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
Cabinet noted the Council’s performance in the second quarter of the year and 
identified any areas where further reporting or information was required.  
 

6. FOOD WASTE COLLECTION.  
 
Judy Homes, Assistant Chef executive introduced the report.  She highlighted that a 
report had been considered by the Scrutiny Committee for Community, Customer 
Services and Service Delivery on 17 November.  Their discussions were detailed in 
the report and the committee had carefully considered all the issues.  The Committee 
advise Cabinet to commence a 1-2-3 food waste collection service and to provide a 
long-term commitment for food  collection service in the District when the 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 8



 
 

 
 

Government have announced their strategy.  She highlighted the issues with West 
Sussex County Council as the disposal authority and the potential impact of roll out 
of the service. 
 
The Leader reminded Members to limit the discussion to the open paper.  He 
welcomed the report, noting that the proposed earlier trial was postponed due to the 
pandemic.  It was important to increase the recycling rates in the District and stated 
that many other councils already offer this service.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Service Delivery welcomed the comments 
and advice from the scrutiny committee.  He highlighted that most residents want the 
Council to proceed with a food waste collection service, the pandemic  prevented the 
trial, and most residents are still very supportive.  Families are keen to be involved 
with the trial and the trial would highlight a positive role of the Council.  The food 
waste collection service will make the biggest single difference in recycled waste and 
will increase the current recycling rate of 45%.  He advised that not all families can 
compost their food waste, Mid Sussex will be the first local authority to undertake a 
substantial pilot in West Sussex and the trial will provide valuable data. He noted the 
cost of £56,000 to 2024, the benefits of the trial, and the challenges faced by West 
Sussex County Council as a disposal authority.  He commended the work of officers 
who had worked with Serco and West Sussex County Council to make the timeline 
as quick as possible, and he supported the recommendations. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Community confirmed his support and noted it would be a 
complicated process.  He also thanked all officers involved with the trial. 
 

 The Deputy Leader confirmed the Council had made a commitment a number of 
years ago and was pleased the Council was able to start the trial. The trial might 
encourage other authorities in West Sussex to provide a similar service.  She was 
optimistic that when new burdens funding was available the Council could use the 
funding appropriately.  

 
 The Cabinet Member for Economic Growth concurred with the other Members, he 

noted the risks of the trial as the composition of food waste can quickly change, the 
Government had not yet published their strategy and he commended the Council for 
proceeding with the trial.  
 

 The Cabinet Member for Customer Services agreed that the data could be the 
catalyst to help other districts introduce a similar service.  She queried when the 
Government would mandate authorities to the introduction of a food waste collection 
service.   The Assistant Chief Executive confirmed the latest budget suggested 
a government mandate for introduction of a food waste collection service in 2024/25. 

 
 The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning noted that the trial would reduce the 

landfill rates of the District and good communications to the residents about the 
service was important.  

 
The Leader  confirmed it would be the largest trial in West Sussex and would provide 
important data and feedback from the residents of the District.   
 

7. TO CONSIDER WHETHER TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC FROM THE 
MEETING DURING CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 100A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT INVOLVES THE LIKELY DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 9



 
 

 
 

INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A 
OF THE SAID ACT.  
 
The Leader moved a motion that the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the exempt business on the agenda.  This was agreed 
unanimously.   
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following item in accordance with Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 

The meeting moved into the exempt session at 4:33 pm. 
 

8. FOOD WASTE COLLECTION - EXEMPT APPENDIX.  
 
The Leader brought the meeting back into open session at 4.39 pm on completion of 
consideration of the exempt appendix and moved to the recommendations included 
in item 7.  He proposed that the wording of recommendation (b) be amended 
replacing “provide a longer-term commitment” with “reiterates its longer-term 
commitment”, this was agreed unanimously.  

 
RESOLVED 
 
a. That Cabinet agreed to trial a 1-2-3 food waste collection and absorbent hygiene 
products collections in three areas in Mid Sussex, and  

b. Reiterates its longer-term commitment to the District wide delivery of food waste 
collections in Mid Sussex when Government policy on waste collections has been 
settled, West Sussex County Council as the collection authority have the facilities to 
deal with that District wide collection and the financial implications have been given 
full consideration.  
 

 
 
 

The meeting finished at 4.41 pm 
 

Chairman 
 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 10



 

CLAIR HALL SITE 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report recommends the Cabinet carefully considers the outcome of the most 
recent consultation and engagement on the Clair Hall site (in Appendix 1) and agrees 
to develop investment options for the site through further feasibility work as outlined in 
the report.   

Summary 

2. As the Council and local economy recover from the pandemic, there is an opportunity 
to invest in the Clair Hall site.  

3. Residents who took part in the most recent engagement and consultation exercise 
(Appendix 1) support investment in the Clair Hall and/or the site.  

4. This report recommends that the Cabinet commissions specialist advice on options for 
investment in the Clair Hall site and outlines work that is needed to understand 
possible options. An evidence-based approach is required to explore solutions that are 
both viable and meet residents' expectations.   

Recommendations  

5. Cabinet is recommended to: 

(i) Carefully consider the outcome of the most recent consultation and 
engagement activities about the Clair Hall site (in Appendix 1); 

(ii) Agree to develop investment options for the site; 
(iii) Request officers to commission specialists to advise on options for the 

site. This work to be evidenced-based and reported regularly to Cabinet;  
(iv) Agree to create a £100k reserve to resource this feasibility work by 

transfer from General Reserve; and  
(v) Authorise officers to extend the licence for the NHS to continue to use 

Clair Hall as a vaccination centre (see para 13-16). 
 

Background 

6. The Clair Hall site is located in Haywards Heath and includes Clair Hall, the Redwood 
Centre and car park. The hall is a multi-purpose venue comprising a large main hall, a 
function suite, studio, and bar area. 

REPORT OF: Chief Officers 
Contact Officer: Rafal Hejne, Interim Head of Organisational Development  

Email:  rafal.hejne@midsussex.gov.uk Tel: 01444 477354 
Wards Affected: All 
Key Decision: Yes 
Report to: Cabinet 
 20 December 2021 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 11

Agenda Item 5



 

7. Clair Hall was initially closed to the public on 19th March 2020, in line with the national 
Covid19 lockdown restrictions. On 14th September 2020 a decision was taken by 
Cabinet to close the hall. It reopened in December 2020 and currently it is being used 
by the NHS as a vaccination site.  

8. In January 2021 the Council agreed a Consent Order by which it undertook to 
reconsider the decision of 14th September 2020 and to complete that reconsideration 
within six months and not later than 12 months from 13th January 2021. This report 
provides the re-consideration required.  

Options  

9. When deciding the future of the Clair Hall site, the Cabinet could consider the following 
options: 

(a) Invest in the site and/or assets on the Clair Hall site; 

(b) Do nothing; 

(c) Close Clair Hall and/or Redwood Centre  

10. Following feedback from the recent engagement and consultation it is recommended 
that the Cabinet commissions work to investigate option (a) - Invest in the site and/ or 
assets on the Clair Hall site.  

11. More information is required to ensure any proposals address and help manage key 
challenges and risks as outlined in this report. Both refurbishment and redevelopment 
scenarios should be investigated as suggested by the consultation and engagement.  

12. The Cabinet is recommended to request officers to commission specialists to advise on 
options for the site. This work, described below (para 34-38), should be evidence-
based. Officer and specialist advisors will report to Cabinet regularly, so that Members 
can oversee and direct the work carefully. At the next Cabinet meeting officers will 
outline key milestones to deliver this work a pace. 

Current Use of the site 

13. As referred to above, the NHS has had use of Clair Hall since December 2020 in order 
to deliver the national Covid vaccination programme. This requires them to have 
control over the building for safety reasons 

14. Officers continue to remain in touch with the NHS regarding this use. Whilst national 
policy on the vaccination programme continues to develop in tandem with the course of 
the pandemic, the NHS has confirmed that it is likely to require Clair Hall into the new 
financial year. 

15. In accordance with the previously expressed desire of the Members, officers will 
continue to facilitate this use. The NHS has confirmed that the Clair Hall is a successful 
and accessible location for its vaccination programme and would value continued use 
of the site. 

16. However, should this use not be needed at any point in 2022, the Council’s policy for 
Community Management and Asset Transfer Policy will provide a framework for use of 
the site. 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 12



 

Consultation and Engagement 

17. In March 2021, the Cabinet Member for Community agreed to a new 12-week 
community engagement and consultation programme over the Summer and Autumn 
2021 to inform the decision on the site's future. 

18. An external consultancy (ECF) was commissioned by the Council to develop and 
implement an Engagement Strategy in relation to the future of the Clair Hall site in 
Haywards Heath. This included Clair Hall, the parking site, and Redwood Centre. It 
excluded Clair Hall Park.  

19. The engagement process was underpinned by the Gunning Principles with the best 
practice approach to engage residents and key stakeholders on the future of this site. 
The Council's aspiration has been to seek feedback from every part of the community 
in Haywards Heath and beyond into the wider district. Residents were given the option 
to develop ideas and feedback.  

20. The engagement and consultation process launched on Wednesday, 30th June 2021. 
A wider public consultation completed on 22nd September with some further 
engagement with community groups and stakeholders was carried out until early 
November.  

21. The views of those contributing to the consultation will be very helpful for the Cabinet 
and need to be carefully considered alongside other complex factors such as planning 
policy, financial viability and demand and market considerations as explained in this 
report. 

22. Approximately 30,000 leaflets have been delivered to the local community. It is hard to 
estimate the exact response rate as responses were anonymous and some people 
attended or contributed through multiple channels (or submitted more than one 
comment). It is estimated that 800-1000 (2.6%-3.3%) took part in this exercise. 

23. In summary, there were 624 registrations on the engagement website, 95 people 
registered to attend workshops, 121 feedback forms were received at the drop-in 
sessions. 21 community groups, that had links to Clair Hall site, were invited to 
participate in the Community Engagement Group (CEG), 11 groups took part.  

24. The demographics of those participating on the website and those that submitted a 
physical feedback form was slightly older than the wider population in Mid Sussex and 
underrepresented the 24 years and younger age range.  

25. Detailed report is included at Appendix 1. The key points raised through the 
engagement and consultations were:  

(a) The majority of respondents suggested the Council should take some action in 
regard to the Clair Hall building and/or the site. The two most popular responses 
were to refurbish or redevelop community facilities on site e.g. on the engagement 
website, this was mentioned 59 and 52 times; during the drop-in sessions, 
refurbishment was mentioned 96 times and development 44 times. CEG members 
shared a common view that the Clair Hall site must be retained for community use, 
but that the current site is tired and requires some work. 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 13



 

(b) Different ideas were submitted on what the Clair Hall site should become. The most 
reoccurring theme was that the site or hall should be multifunctional. 897 (42%) of 
comments that mention the future use, wanted to see arts/entrainment offer and 
428 (21%) comments mentioning commercial uses including café or a 
bar/restaurant.  

(c) Respondents valued the location of the site and its proximity to nearby train and 
bus links. 

(d) 62 comments suggested the site should open up towards Clair Park. 

(e) There were 70 comments on the Redwood Centre, suggesting retention of the 
building in its current form. 

(f) 83 comments supported the protection of car parking facilities at the site. 

Impacts of the pandemic  

26. With infections rates high and possible new variants, the pandemic continues to be a 
significant risk and a factor in shaping residents' habits and business's decisions. 
Economic recovery from the pandemic remains in a point of transition, with every sign 
of a positive measure being equally met by a challenge. The future, therefore, is 
unclear and hard to predict.   

27. The leisure sector, in particular, has not recovered yet. The Council's financial position 
continues to be directly and negatively impacted by this. The uncertainties around 
people's confidence in organised classes or indoor events continue to present a 
significant challenge for the leisure and art sectors. In November, the Audience 
Agency, which monitors sales in more than 340 English venues, reported that sales for 
shows haven't recovered and dropped by 34% of the 2019 levels. These are some of 
the factors the Council will need to consider when making decisions about investment 
in these types of facilities.  

28. It is important to understand how people's habits and needs change (or are changing) 
as we recover from the pandemic. The challenges might be easier to identify, 
especially in the short to medium term. Recent changes can equally create 
opportunities that the Council should explore. Many people decided to work more from 
home or even moved out of big urban areas. This might create opportunities in Mid 
Sussex and our towns.  

29. The feedback from the engagement and consultation section describes the most recent 
insights into some residents' views gathered in relation to the Clair Hall site. The 
Council welcomes the signs of optimism and finds this information very helpful. More 
data should be collected around 'post-pandemic' challenges/opportunities, 
demand/supply analysis to support evidence-based approach to developing options for 
investment in the community facilities on the site.   

Financial Context 

30. As Members will be aware, the pandemic has had a significant adverse effect on the 
Council's finances, with income actuals and projections falling over the medium term, 
and the General Reserve being used to balance the budget each year into the future.  
The position as presently set out is not sustainable, although the Council's ambition to 
deliver services and post-pandemic growth is undiminished. 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 14



 

31. Members will therefore recognise that the Council's ability to support a refurbishment or 
redevelopment project is constrained, and will depend on the scale of refurbishment or 
redevelopment options, available funding of capital and revenue return. It is worth 
noting that these types of facilities tend to run at a deficit, rather than at a surplus which 
could finance any prudential borrowing. 

32. As part of the planned work the Council should explore opportunities to secure external 
funding to improve community facilities on the Clair Hall site that can benefit the 
residents of Hayward Heath and the wider district.  

33. The Council has a strong record of attracting inward investments, both public and 
private, to support the development of our communities.  The Strategic Growth 
Programme for Burgess Hill is the most ambitious programme of change anywhere in 
the region and totals some £1bn from both public and private sources. 

34. Central to this work has been this Council’s determination to secure significant 
community facilitates for local communities; new schools and community hubs 
including retail shops, substantial community open space, children's play areas, 
allotments, and sports facilities.  

Feasibility work and options appraisal 

35. Further demand and supply analysis will be required to update the Council's data on 
the community facilities available in the area (as explained at para 42). This will help 
understand the impacts of the pandemic and potential challenges and opportunities.  

36. More information is required to understand how people's habits have changed and to 
identify any gaps in the community facilities offer that could meet this demand and be 
the right fit for the area.  

37. The Council should soft test the market for any potential redevelopment ideas to 
understand what could be supported by the market in the post-pandemic environment 
and would deliver the required community facilities on the site.  

38. In order to take forward both options (refurbish or redevelopment) considerable 
feasibility work will be required to assess the site. For example, for the refurbish option 
a full structural survey will be required of the existing buildings to assess their suitability 
for refurbishment and the extent of asbestos used within their construction.  

39. When developing the potential options this work will analyse and take into account 
policy context explained at para 45-49. 

40. This work has not been budgeted for and it is therefore proposed that a reserve of 
£100k is made available by a transfer from the General Reserve.  

Clair Hall prior to the pandemic  

41. Before the pandemic, Clair Hall had operational challenges including declining demand 
for its offer. The hall was mainly used for community events and meetings. As a 
consequence, Clair Hall has not been economically viable to operate for over 10 years. 
Its inclusion in the PL contract in 2014 came at a cost to the Council of approximately 
£35k per annum. In addition, the Council had to retain some liabilities and therefore 
held the full repair and maintenance responsibilities for the hall. 

42. Prior to the pandemic there were over 20 community buildings (church halls, 
community centres, and sports pavilions) within a one-mile radius of the hall. In 
addition to this, there were also 9 educational facilities offering facilities.  

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 15



 

43. In the recent consultation and engagement, a number of participants referred to other 
facilities in the broader area that they liked and would like to see in Haywards Heath. 
Both facilities, described below, use either subsidies or donations to support their 
operations. This support had to be increased through the pandemic.  

(a) The Capitol- Horsham: Comprises a 410-seat theatre space, two cinema screens, 
a small studio theatre meeting room and gallery space. The venue is run and 
subsidised by Horsham District Council. 

(b) The Depot- Lewes: Comprises a 3-screen cinema, studio space, gallery, and 
bar/restaurant. Operated by Lewes Community Screen, a not-for-profit charitable 
organisation. 

44. Any new proposals would need to address the old challenges as well as consider new 
ones and opportunities in the post-pandemic environment. The Council would need to 
take an evidence-based approach to develop viable, future-proved options. 

Policy Context  

45. Planning applications are determined against the policies and guidance within the 
Development Plan. The following are of direct relevance to the Clair Hall site:   

(a) District Plan 2014-2031, adopted in 2018  

(b) Haywards Heath Neighbourhood Plan, adopted in 2016  

(c) Haywards Heath Town Centre Masterplan (Supplementary Planning Document), 
adopted in 2021  

46. The District Plan sets the vision and strategy for the district and includes policies 
against which planning applications are determined. In relation to the Clair Hall site, 
policy DP24: Leisure and Cultural Facilities and Activities provides support for new 
and/or enhanced leisure and cultural activities and facilities. Proposals that involve a 
loss of cultural facilities will not be supported unless an assessment has been 
undertaken which shows the facility is surplus to requirements; or the loss would be 
replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity/quality in a suitable 
location; or the development is for alternative provision where the needs clearly 
outweigh the loss. 

47. In relation to the Clair Hall site, The Haywards Heath Neighbourhood Plan's Policy L1 
states: "Development resulting in the loss of Clair Hall whilst the facility remains 
needed and valued by the local community will be resisted unless there is re-provision 
of an equivalent or better facility within the Town prior to the loss of the existing 
facilities."  

48. The Masterplan identifies Clair Hall as an 'Opportunity Site' for redevelopment. For 
Clair Hall, the Masterplan requires any redevelopment of the site to be subject to 
results of an assessment to establish the need for such a facility and whether these 
could be re-provided elsewhere (in accordance with DP24 above).  

49. Naturally, options for the refurbishment or redevelopment of the site will need to be 
developed, informed by the planning context. 

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 16



 

Other Options Considered 

50. The closure of Clair Hall and/or Redwood Centre option (option (c) at para 9) would 
deliver immediate operational savings. Closing down a community facility would need 
to comply with relevant District Plan policies (i.e. DP24 Leisure and Cultural Facilities 
and Activities) and would require the Council to ensure a sufficient level of community 
facilities is provided. This requires further analysis as the pandemic has affected the 
sector. It is therefore recommended that the Council explores viable investment options 
(option (a) above) to deliver the community facilities on the site.   

51. Option (b), especially concerning the Clair Hall, would require further investigation of 
necessary work needed to enable the operation of the building after the NHS vacates 
it. Work undertaken as part of the option (a) feasibility work would provide this 
information. When this information is available, Cabinet will be able to carefully 
consider it and make further determinations. This includes any meanwhile use 
considerations which should be considered when the Cabinet have more information 
about the potential refurbishment or redevelopment options (their implications, 
requirements, timelines etc.). Cabinet should refer to its policy for Community 
Management and Asset Transfer Policy when making such considerations in the future.  

Financial Implications  

52. The creation of a reserve to fund specialist work and advise to enable the Cabinet to 
consider options for the redevelopment or refurbishment of the site. 

Risk Management Implications  

53. A better picture of the impacts of the pandemic on the economy, arts, and leisure 
sector in particular, and residents’ habits and needs, are still emerging and clarifying. 
These increase risks and uncertainties around planning for future provision and will 
impact all options that may be developed as part of the feasibility work planned. An 
evidence-driven approach to this work will help manage these risks.  

54. The financial position of the Council, as outlined at para 30-31, is under pressure and 
as presently set out is not sustainable. This will have to be monitored and will be a 
significant factor in the decision making about investment options on the site.  

55. Further work to develop options around refurbishment and/or development of the site, 
will require access to the buildings to undertake structural surveys and facilitate more 
detailed planning and assessments. Currently, the NHS occupies Clair Hall, which will 
affect this work. Some work may not be completed until the NHS vacates the hall.   

Equality and Customer Service Implications  

56. Options developed as part of the feasibility work and presented to the Cabinet will 
include an equality impact assessment.  

Sustainability Implications 

57. Government policy requires social as well as economic and environmental objectives to 
be an integral part of sustainability. Strong, vibrant, and healthy communities need 
sufficient provision for community facilities including cultural facilities which are easily 
accessible. Further work will include these considerations and develop option(s) for the 
most suitable facility on the site.  

Cabinet - 20 December 2021 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Future of Clair Hall Site
Haywards Heath 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report
Prepared for Mid Sussex District Council

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

19



Contents
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Executive Summary........................................................3

Introduction.......................................................................4

Engagement Approach.................................................5

Participants........................................................................10

Engagement findings.....................................................13

Final observations...........................................................31

Appendices........................................................................32

Page 2

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

20



Executive Summary 
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

I.  Mid Sussex District Council (MSDC) embarked on a 12-week 
engagement process to assist with an understanding of what the 
future of the Clair Hall site (including the Redwood Centre and car 
park) could look like. The Future of the Clair Hall Site Consultation 
has been designed to work alongside the community and give the 
community a strong voice in shaping the future of the Clair Hall site. 

II.  The engagement and consultation process officially launched 
on 30 June 2021 and lasted for 12 weeks, closing on 22 September 
2021. Due to Covid-19 restrictions when the engagement process 
was launched, the consultation was designed to include digital 
and physical elements in line with public health guidance. After 
restrictions were eased in England, digital and physical community 
engagement methods were used to ensure the widest range of the 
community could participate. Engage Communicate Facilitate (ECF), 
an independent specialist community engagement consultancy, were 
hired by MSDC to manage the engagement and consultation process. 
The engagement process was designed to ensure the widest range of 
voices in the community are able to provide their ideas and views on 
the future of the Clair Hall site. 

III. As part of the consultation process, MSDC undertook a statutory 
consultation which consisted of both digital and physical elements, 
a dedicated email and telephone line, community workshops, a 
dedicated project engagement website, stakeholder meetings, 
formulation of a community engagement group, physical drop-
in sessions, and youth engagement programme. Throughout this 

engagement process feedback was invited from consultees. 

IV.  Based on the feedback received, ECF have drawn a series of 
general observations for consideration by MSDC Cabinet as they 
enter the next stage in determining the future of the Clair Hall site. A 
summary of feedback can be found on page 31 of this report. 

Page 3

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

21



Introduction
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

In June 2021, Mid Sussex District Council (MSDC) launched the Future of 
the Clair Hall Site consultation. Following the consideration of a petition 
regarding the Clair Hall site at the Council meeting held on the 4 November 
2020, a consultation was developed to seek feedback on the future of the 
site. The consultation was designed to work alongside the community and 
give the community a voice to shape the future of the site.

Between 30 June 2021 and 22 September 2021 a public consultation on the 
future of the Clair Hall site (including the Redwood Centre and car park) 
was delivered. More than 1,400 responses have been received and collected 
throughout the engagement process. Additionally, nearly 8,500 visits were 
made to the Engagement HQ project website to find out more about the 
consultation and engagement process. 

Purpose of this report

This report presents the findings of the Future of the Clair Hall Site 
consultation. The feedback and comments received have been analysed by 
an independent organisation, Engage Communicate Facilitate (ECF), who 
led the community engagement programme on behalf of MSDC. This report 
provides observations from the consultation to be considered at a Cabinet 
meeting of MSDC in December 2021.

Page 4

Clair Hall’s current use as 
a vaccination centre

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

22



Engagement Approach
 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Overview and methodology

A methodology was developed that sought to ensure a wide range 
of individuals participated in the process, including those who are 
traditionally seldom heard. The methodology was also designed to 
ensure individuals could participate using both digital and physical 
means, considering the Covid-19 restrictions that were in place at the 
start of the engagement process.

Engagement activities 

A full engagement programme, including physical and digital elements, 
was executed throughout the 12-weeks and designed to encourage 
participation across a wide range of groups in the Haywards Heath 
area. To raise awareness of the project, the following activities were 
undertaken:

• Launched the online Engagement HQ site as a platform where people 
could access all information on the consultation and submit their 
experiences and memories of using the site (their “stories” as well as 
their ideas for the future of the site). 

• Approximately 30,000 leaflets were delivered to addresses within 
Haywards Heath.  

• An article was published in the Mid Sussex Matters newsletter. 
• Updates were posted on the MSDC Twitter, Instagram and Facebook 

accounts. 
• Updates on the Engagement HQ news feed. 
• Two online community workshops took place. 
• Three meetings of a Community Engagement Group (CEG), 

consisting of representatives of local groups, took place.
• Two individual stakeholder meetings took place.
• Drop-in sessions in The Orchards Centre, Haywards Heath on the 16 

and 18 September 2021, with over 250 people attending, took place. 
• Four meetings have taken place as part of the dedicated youth 

engagement programme. 

A copy of the two distributed leaflets and the distribution area used have 
been included in this report in Appendix G and H. 

Page 5

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

23



Engagement Approach
Table 1

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Online engagement
Engagement HQ 8,182 website visits 

624 site registrations 
610 active participants (those participants who have verified 
their Engagement HQ account)

Online workshops 95 people registered to attend
Events Programme 2021
Wednesday 30 June 2021 Launch of the Future of the Clair Hall Site consultation
Thursday 22 July 2021 First digital community workshop
Wednesday 28 July 2021 Second digital community workshop
Thursday 12 August 2021 First meeting of the Community Engagement Group (CEG)
Wednesday 8 September 2021 Stakeholder meeting with Mid Sussex District Council 

councillors
Wednesday 15 September 2021 Second meeting of the CEG
Thursday 16 September 2021 First physical drop-in session

Saturday 18 September 2021 Second physical drop-in session
Wednesday 22 September 2021 End of public consultation period
Thursday 23 September 2021 Stakeholder meeting with Haywards Heath Rotary Club
Tuesday 2 November 2021 Third meeting of the CEG
Wednesday 3 November 2021 Youth engagement meeting with the 10th Haywards Heath 

Scouts
Thursday 4 November 2021 Youth engagement meeting with Haywards Heath College

Page 6

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

24



Engagement Approach
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Engagement HQ 

The primary means through which feedback on the future of the Clair 
Hall site (including the Redwood Centre and car park) was gathered was 
through the Engagement HQ (EHQ) project website (https://engage.
midsussex.gov.uk/clair-hall). Paper copies were also made available to 
individuals who requested them. 

The EHQ site acted as the digital consultation hub throughout the 
process and offered meaningful engagement to those who online is their 
preferred method of engagement. The site hosted all project materials, 
including a detailed overview of the consultation, key dates, reports, 
important links, an FAQs section, the consultation lifecycle, Jamboards 
from the two digital workshops, a frequently updated newsfeed, and 
dedicated sections for the community to submit feedback. The EHQ 
site invited the community to share their feedback in two main ways – 
‘Ideas’ and ‘Stories’. The ‘Ideas’ section was a free text box that allowed 
participants to freely share their ideas on topics such as the uses for 
the site in the future, if the site should be refurbished or redeveloped, if 
there are any services currently lacking and what do they like about the 
site and what could subsequently be improved. The ‘Stories’ function 
was again a free text box and was predominantly intended to gather 
feedback from the community on how Clair Hall and the wider site has 
been used in the past. There was also a ‘Questions’ tab that allowed 
participants to ask any questions they may have.

Screenshots of the EHQ site are shown on this page and are included in 
Appendix A of this report. 

Page 7

Screenshot from the Engagement HQ website

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

25



Engagement Approach
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Community workshops

Two community workshops were organised to provide residents with the 
opportunity to have their say on what they would like the future of the 
Clair Hall site to look like. These sessions were advertised via mailshot, a 
press release in Mid Sussex Matters, MSDC social media channels, and on 
the Engagement HQ. People were invited to register their attendance using 
Eventbrite. 

In total, approximately 46 individuals registered to attend the workshop 
session that took place on Thursday 22 July 2021 and a further 49 registered 
to attend the session that was held on Wednesday 28 July 2021. Therefore, a 
total of 95 registrations were made to attend the public workshops. 

The sessions were held on Zoom due to Covid-19 restrictions, and attendees 
were broken up into virtual rooms with a facilitator and ECF employee. In 
those breakout room sessions, participants provided their feedback in a 
structured “Keep, Change, Add” format. This feedback was collected on 
Google Jamboard and the Jamboards were published onto the Engagement 
HQ website. These boards have been included in this report in Appendix E. 

Community Engagement Group (CEG)

As part of the engagement process, a Community Engagement Group (CEG) 
was formulated to ensure that specific elements of the community voice 
are part of the process, listened to and heard. The CEG was composed of 11 
representatives from local community groups that frequently used or had a 
connection to Clair Hall and/or the wider site. Initially, 21 groups were offered 
the opportunity to participate in this group. 11 groups responded to the 

invitation to participate; the groups represented include: 

• Haywards Heath Town Council
• Haywards Heath Community CIC 
• Haywards Heath Town Team CIC 
• District Scouts 
• Mid Sussex Voluntary Action (MSVA)
• Citizens Advice (Community Champions) 
• Older People’s Council 
• Alliance for Better Healthcare 
• Save Clair Hall campaign group 
• Sussex National Association of Flower Arrangement Societies 

(NAFAS) 
• The Weald Theatre Group 

The remaining ten groups did not respond to the initial invitation email. A 
full list of those invited to take part in the engagement process has been 
included in this report in Appendix J.

The project team held three meetings with the CEG, these took place on 
12 August 2021, 15 September 2021 and 2 November 2021. The sessions 
were held on Zoom, first due to Covid-19 restrictions and subsequently 
due to member availability. 

Page 8

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

26



Engagement Approach
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Stakeholder Engagement

A range of stakeholders were identified and invited to participate in the 
engagement process. A bespoke youth engagement programme was 
designed and organised to increase youth participation and to listen to 
young voices about what they would like the future of the site to look 
like. The opportunity to request a stakeholder meeting was also available. 
The following activities were delivered:

• Meetings with stakeholders 
 o Mid Sussex District Council councillors meeting on 

Wednesday 8 September 2021. 
 o Meeting with Haywards Heath Rotary Club on Thursday 23 

September 2021.
 o Meeting with the 10th Haywards Heath Scouts on Wednesday 

3 November 2021. 
 o Meeting with Haywards Heath College on Thursday 4 

November 2021.  

Summary

A variety of engagement tools were used to gather feedback from 
residents, business groups, community groups, local schools and other 
stakeholders. Given the Covid-19 pandemic and Government restrictions, 
both digital and physical engagement tools were used throughout the 
engagement programme to ensure greater community participation. 
The online Engagement HQ hosted all the project materials, and 
physical copies of these materials could be requested both by email and 
telephone. The site hosted ways to submit feedback, key consultation 

dates, frequently asked questions, the accessibility statement, copies of 
the community workshop Jamboards, an updated newsfeed and a copy 
of the interim report. 

Online community workshops were delivered, and a number of 
stakeholder groups were invited to meet and participate in the 
Community Engagement Group (CEG) which would contribute to 
the process. Two physical drop-in sessions were held once Covid-19 
Government restrictions eased and paper copies of the feedback forms 
were provided for those who preferred this method of engagement. As 
part of the dedicated youth engagement programme, local schools and 
youth groups were offered the opportunity to meet either digitally or 
physically. Overall, three physical meetings and one digital meeting took 
place as part of the youth engagement programme. 

Overall, the blended engagement approach was successful in terms of 
how many people participated and the level of engagement we had from 
them. We heard from many passionate residents of all ages, community 
groups, Councillors and other stakeholders. 

Page 9

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

27



Participants
 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

It is estimated that between 800 and 1,000 individuals engaged with 
the project during the consultation process, either having visited the 
engagement hub, attended one of the two community workshops, 
visited the drop-in sessions, engaged with the youth engagement 
programme, participated as a member of the CEG or attended one of 
the stakeholder meetings.

The project team collected data from all those that participated in the 
Engagement HQ or submitted a physical feedback form. This data 
covered age, gender, gender identification, ethnicity, religion, whether 
the individual has a disability, and whether the individual is a carer. 

This data was collected in line with the Council’s obligations under the 
Equality Act 2010, which required local authorities to ensure those with 
Protected Characteristics can participate in consultation processes. Local 
authorities are obliged to provide participants with an option to decline 
to answer demographic questions, and a high number of people did this 
during the consultation process.

Page 10

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Page-views

Visitors

Visits

New-Registrations

Table 2: Summary of visits to the Engagement HQ website

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

28



Participants
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

In total 624 people registered on the Engagement and Consultation Hub and a further 106 people filled in a physical copy of the feedback form. The 
demographic figures breakdown as follows:

Page 11

43%

8%

70%

36%

63%

65%

(316) identify as female

31%

on average 31% of participants 
chose not to answer each of the 

demographics questions

(511) identify as the sex they were assigned at birth

(470) identify as White - English / Welsh / Scottish / North Irish

(457) identify as heterosexual/ straight

(265) identify as Christian

(58) consider their day-to-day activities limited due to 
a health problem or disability

4%

55% (405) are 45 or over

(32) are carers for an elderly or disabled person

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

29



16-24 
1% 25-34

4%

35-44
10%

45-54
16%

55-64
17%

65-74
14%

75+
8%

I prefer not to 
say/no answer

30%

Under 16 
0%

Participants
DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Summary

The demographics of those participating in the Engagement HQ and 
those that submitted a physical feedback form was slightly older than 
the wider population in Mid Sussex and underrepresented the 24 years 
and younger age range. According to the West Sussex County Council’s 
2011 Strategic Intelligence Assessment 28% of the population in Mid 
Sussex is under 24 years old or younger. Efforts were made to boost 
youth engagement through the youth engagement programme. 

In addition, there was a slight underrepresentation of men (49% 
identified as such in Mid Sussex in 2019) and an overrepresentation of 
those that identified as having no particular religion (26.6% identified 
as such in Mid Sussex in 2019). However, when viewed holistically, the 
engagement process enjoyed a wide range of participation from people 
within Haywards Heath.

Page 12

Table 3: Age brackets of participants

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

30



Engagement findings
 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Memories

As part of the engagement process, we asked people how Clair 
Hall and the wider site has been used in the past. This data was 
collected on the Engagement HQ site, via the “stories” function, and 
also collected through the physical feedback forms and individual 
stakeholder meetings. Overall, we collected 318 different stories from 
the community on how they used Clair Hall and the wider site in the 
past. We have carefully analysed this data and summarised the top 10 
uses of the site from your feedback.

Figure 4: Count of the top ten responses to ‘How have you used Clair 
Hall and the wider site in the past?’

When asked to describe how they used Clair Hall and the wider site in 
the past, the most common response received was for concerts/live 
entertainment (mentioned 117 times), closely followed with use as a 
theatre (mentioned 108 times), as a cinema (mentioned 100 times) and 
use of the Redwood Centre for the Scouts (mentioned 94 times).

Page 13

100
108

87

117

61 61

77

94

46

35

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Cinema Theatre Group
meetings

Concerts/ Live
entertainment

Comedy Vaccine Private events Scouts Fairs/ Fete Dance shows

This section details the findings of the engagement process on the future of the Clair Hall site. This will be structured according to the two central 
feedback questions that were asked (‘what memories do you have of the Clair Hall site’ and ‘what ideas for you have for the future of the site’) and the 
various engagement activities undertaken.

Figure 4 

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

31



Engagement findings
Engagement HQ site 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

In total 296 different ‘Ideas’ and three questions were submitted 
through the Engagement HQ site. Participants were asked to submit 
their feedback via free text box and all submissions received have been 
carefully collated and analysed to produce key themes. 

We now summarise the key themes that emerged from the ‘ideas’ 
feedback received on the Engagement HQ website. 

Retain, Refurbish, Redevelop

Whilst the comments received clearly support keeping the Clair Hall 
site for community purposes, the most frequent feedback related to the 
future site was for refurbishment (mentioned 59 times (35%)). Some of 
the commentary for the site’s refurbishment has been published below:

• “Revamp the existing Clair Hall - must be keep for local community use.”
• “An updated and improved community arts facility is needed as 

Haywards Heath continues to expand.”
• “RETAIN, Review, Rejuvenate, Revamp, Reinvigorate, Reinvent, 

Repurpose = REWARD. Retain the existing building and make 
improvements to make it more sustainable.”

An additional 30% of respondents (mentioned 52 times) stated that they 
would like the site redeveloped, some examples are below:

• “Clair Hall site needs to be retained as it has perfect links but needs 
replacing with a modern building. Needs to have multi-purpose use for 
community and arts events, see the success of Lewes Depot.”

• “Redevelop the whole site. I would like to see the whole site 

redeveloped and utilised to the full, with a large centre flexible for local 
groups, theatre, gallery, meeting rooms, kitchen facilities for those hiring 
and a cinema with cafe/restaurant available, similar to the Depot.”

A small proportion of respondents (mentioned 17 times (10%)) favoured 
expansion of the current site, including suggestions for an additional 
storey and a mixed development. One respondent offered the following 
comment:

“Develop the site for mixed use with private finance. Develop the site to 
provide, ground floor accessible community facilities, cinema, theatre, 
bowling, cafes etc, for all age groups, open up to the rear to face the 
beautiful park/cricket green, actually engaging with this public amenity, 
housing provided on top floors to help finance the development and 
provide underground car parking. This should be a joint venture with private 
developers who know how to push the thing forward properly.”

The Depot in Lewes was mentioned 63 times in comments as a venue 
to get inspiration from. Similarly, the Capitol Theatre in Horsham was 
mentioned 14 times.

Page 14

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

32



Engagement findings
Engagement HQ site 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Future Use

Below is a summary of the feedback received to the Engagement HQ for 
the future uses for the Clair Hall site.

Page 15

When asked what their ideas are for the future of the site on Engagement 
HQ, 42% (mentioned 391 times) of comments were related to a future arts 
use. Out of those comments that mentioned the arts, a cinema (mentioned 
117 times (12%)), closely followed by a theatre (mentioned 96 times (10%)) 
were mentioned the most frequently.

Examples of respondent’s comments, stating that they would like the 
future site to be used for the arts, are below:

• “We need a modern, well-equipped performance stage and backstage 
area, separate cinema area and possible coffee/snack lounge. Something 
along the lines that they have developed in Horsham. Well thought out 
and spacious with interesting shows/cinema.”

• “Clair Hall should be redeveloped into a multi-use Arts & Community 
venue similar to The Capitol in Horsham. It could then pay for itself.”

A significant representative of respondents (mentioned 154 times (16%)) 
would like to see the future site retained as a community centre and 
resource. One resident offered the following comment:

“Flexible community centre/venue. The loss of the Martletts Hall in Burgess 
Hill has made it even more important that Clair Hall is retained and improved 
to serve both towns. It should be possible to create an attractive, flexible 
building which can serve in a variety of functions. Clair Hall is an asset to the 
community and if lost would be unlikely to be replaced.”

154

117

96

77

63

81

49

73

38

21

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Community centre/ resource

Cinema

Theatre

Arts centre

Concerts/ shows

Café

Bar/ restaurant

Meetings/ event space

Gallery/ exhibition space

Youth provision

NUMBER OF MENTIONS

Figure 5: Top 10 Engagement HQ Future Uses

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

33



Engagement findings
Engagement HQ site 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Future Use

The following ideas were also raised frequently on the Engagement HQ:

• Introduction of a permanent café/bar/restaurant to compliment both 
day and night-time activities at the site (mentioned 130 times (14%)). 

• A multifunctional space (mentioned 133 times (14%)) that is available 
for private hire (mentioned 73 (8%)). 

• Additional youth provision for the young people of Haywards Heath 
and surrounding areas to use (mentioned 21 times (2%)). 

Features

Several ideas were commonly requested as additional features for the 
Clair Hall site, these include:

• To better integrate Clair Hall site with Clair Park by opening the site 
up towards the rear (mentioned 33 times (28%)). 

• Introduction of tiered seating to improve visibility and comfortability 
during performances/shows (mentioned 20 times (17%)). 

• Ensure the future site is more environmentally sustainable, including 
suggestions for heat pumps and solar panels (mentioned 18 times 
(15%)).

• Improved ancillary facilities (mentioned 14 times (12%)) – a number 
of participants raised the issue of a lack of technological equipment 
available currently at the site.

Page 16

• The installation of partition walling (mentioned 7 times (6%)) to allow the 
space to be flexible and cater for numerous community groups at one 
singular time.

Compared to other engagement channels, comments received on the 
Engagement HQ ‘ideas’ board saw a dramatic reduction in participants 
requesting improved management of the future site (mentioned 7 times 
(6%)). Participants who submitted comments through the Ideas Board were 
more clearly focused on the type of space and type of uses that might form 
part of the site’s future.

“Golden opportunity for Depot-style venue that 
Haywards Heath is crying out for!  It’s hard to see past an 
opportunity to provide Haywards Heath with a modern 
venue with bright, open spaces, that could make use of 
nearby park views for an indoor/outdoor cafe or bar. A 
cinema would be a priority (If Uckfield can have one, no 
reason that Haywards Heath can’t, surely?)”

A resident of Mid Sussex

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

34



Engagement findings
Engagement HQ site 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Redwood Centre 

32 comments were submitted on the Engagement HQ ‘ideas’ board that 
referenced the future use of the Redwood Centre. From those comments 
received a significant majority supported the continued use of the site 
for youth groups, and the protection of the site for the Scouts was 
mentioned ten times.

Three comments (9%) received requested that the Redwood Centre 
would be treated separately to Clair Hall building in any future 
developments.

Car Park

Overall, respondents who commented on what they would like the future 
Clair Hall car park to look like demonstrated a clear preference to keep 
the car parking facilities (mentioned 23 times (45%)). Six respondents 
(12%) requested that any future consideration for the car park consider 
the needs and use of the car park by Haywards Heath cricket club. 

Four respondents (8%) commented that due to nearby public 
transport links and car parking facilities, the car park at Clair Hall site is 
unnecessary and could be used for other functions. 

Page 17

“There are currently TWO distinct community 
facilities operating on the Clair Hall site (Clair 
Hall entertainments, arts and community and the 
Redwood Community Centre) and this should be 
recognised as the future of the site is considered. 
We risk losing community services, not gaining 
facilities, if the functions of these two separate 
buildings aren’t considered.”

A resident of Mid Sussex 

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

35



Engagement findings
Community Engagement Group (CEG) 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

During the engagement period, ECF (the independent consultants) 
conducted three meetings with the Community Engagement Group 
(CEG) – a full list of those groups represented can be found above. Below 
is a summary of some of the key themes raised in these meetings and 
in correspondence. All correspondence has, in full, been shared with the 
project team. 

As part of the first and second meeting, feedback was collected in the form 
of Google Jamboards and are attached to this report in Appendix C and D. 

Retain, Refurbish, Redevelop

The future of the physical site as it stands was one of the key themes that 
emerged throughout the three CEG meetings. Overall, the CEG members 
shared a common view that the Clair Hall site must be retained for 
community use, but that the current site is tired and requires some work. The 
main arguments raised were as follows:

• Members were keen to stress the importance of safeguarding the site. 
• Agreement that the current site is tired and requires some updating. 
• Broad consensus amongst the members that the Clair Hall building and 

the Redwood Centre should be independent, with different entrances 
and facilities within each of the component parts. 

• Suggestion that improvements to the site should allow for greater 
flexibility and should improve the curb appeal by opening the site 
towards Clair Park. 

• One member stressed the environmental importance of recycling and 

reusing the building where possible, using this case to support the idea 
of refurbishing the site. 

• Two members suggested that Clair Hall be immediately reopened for 
community use, once Alliance for Better Healthcare no longer has use of 
it, until the time any major works are undertaken. 

Future Use

How the site would be used in the future was another core theme to arise 
during discussions of the CEG. In broad terms, the CEG members agreed 
that the site should be retained for community use, with a focus on the site 
being dedicated to the arts. Beyond this, there was some disagreement 
about how this provision should be offered. The following comments were 
raised:

• Strong consensus for the future site to be a multifunctional space for the 
arts, particularly a theatre, that would bring together people of all ages. 

• Shared sentiment that the future site should be a destination for both 
Haywards Heath residents and visitors to the town. Ideas on how this 
could occur included adding additional conference space, building a 
permanent bar/café that opens up to Clair Park, adding electric charging 
points for vehicles and adding an additional storey to the site.

• Agreement that the use of the site as a retail/office space is their lowest 
priority. 

• Split opinion amongst the members on how important the future site as 
a community centre is – some argued that this was second to the arts in 
importance, whilst others placed it lower on their list of priorities. 

Page 18

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

36



Engagement findings
Community Engagement Group (CEG) 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Features

A core theme to arise during the three CEG meetings were the features 
for the future site. The arguments that were raised include:

• Requests for the future management of the site to be more proactive, 
with advocation among some group members that management of 
Clair Hall should be transferred to a non-profit organisation and make 
better use of local volunteers. 

• Suggestion for an improved booking system for the site, to ensure 
booking the site is accessible for all and efficient to use. 

• Group members were in agreement that the site’s ancillary facilities 
(particularly the toilet and kitchen facilities) need updating. 

• To improve the functionality of the space, it was suggested that 
partition walling be used. 

• Agreed feeling that an inviting green space was not a priority for the 
future site. One member commented that the current site courtyard 
is dead space and if removed, could free more space for the Clair Hall 
site. 

Redwood Centre & Car Park 

Conversations of the CEG tended to focus on the overall Clair Hall site or 
on the Clair Hall building itself. Of those comments that did refer to the 
Redwood Centre and Car Park, the following arguments were made:

• One group argued that the Redwood Centre must be retained for 
youth groups, particularly the District Scouts, and emphasised the 
space’s utility due to its size. Several group members agreed that the 

Redwood Centre should be considered separately to the Clair Hall 
building in any future considerations. 

• Three comments were received on the Clair Hall site car park with 
overall agreement that car parking facilities should be kept on site. 
One member justified this opinion due to considerations for the 
nearby cricket club and another added that whilst they believe the 
car parking facilities should be retained at the site, they were happy 
to pay for such access. 

As part of the final meeting of the CEG, the group members were invited 
to submit a final statement to the Future of Clair Hall Site consultation. 
Five written submissions were received as part of this engagement and 
are included as Appendix I in this report. These statements have been 
considered with equal weighting to all other feedback received. 

Page 19

Screenshot from one of the CEG meetings

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

37



Engagement findings
Community workshops 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

As part of the engagement process, community workshops were held 
on Thursday 22 July 2021 and Wednesday 28 July 2021. These sessions 
were advertised via mailshot, a press release in Mid Sussex Matters, 
MSDC social media channels, and on the Engagement HQ. People were 
invited to register their attendance using Eventbrite.

In total, approximately 46 individuals registered to attend the workshop 
session that took place on Thursday 22 July 2021 and a further 49 
registered to attend the session that was held on Wednesday 28 July 
2021. Therefore, a total of 95 people registered to attend the public 
workshops. 

The sessions were held on Zoom due to Covid-19 restrictions, and 
attendees were broken up into virtual breakout rooms with a facilitator 
and ECF employee. In those breakout room sessions, participants 
provided their feedback in a structured “Keep, Change, Add” format. This 
feedback was collected on Google Jamboard and the Jamboards were 
published onto the Engagement HQ website. These boards have been 
included in this report in Appendix E. 

We now summarise the themes that emerged from the sessions, starting 
with how attendees had used Clair Hall site in the past. 

How have you used Clair Hall site in the past?

Attendees were first invited to feedback on how they had used the Clair 
Hall site in the past. The most common theme amongst the attendee’s 
feedback was that they had used the Clair Hall site for the arts, including 
as a theatre, cinema, comedy, and live music venue. After this, the most 
common responses were that participants used Clair Hall site as a 
venue for private hire and for various group meetings. Another common 
response from participants was that they had previously used the site 
for health reasons. For example, breast screenings, vaccinations and 
donating blood.

Page 20

Screenshot from the community workshops Eventbrite page

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

38



Engagement findings
Community workshops

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Retain, Refurbish, Redevelop 

Out of those participants that referenced whether to retain, refurbish 
or redevelop the site during the workshop, a majority stated that they 
would like to see the site refurbished to some degree. A number of these 
participants stated that whilst the site needs modernising, they were 
concerned that the community would be left without a venue whilst 
building works were going ahead. 

Several participants expressed preference for redeveloping the site, to a 
varying degree. One participant offered the following comment during 
the workshop: “Incorporating multiple uses into Clair Hall as a re-build.” 
Another participant stated: “Knock down and completely redevelop.”

A small minority of participants prioritised keeping the site as it is, with 
refurbishments only made to make the site functional. 

Future Use

Comments on the future use of the site largely focused on maintaining 
the current use of the site in its future use, this would include as an 
arts, entertainment and community centre. In particular, participants 
emphasised the need to keep the space multifunctional. Some 
participants stressed the importance of the Clair Hall site as an 
opportunity to ensure Haywards Heath is a destination town for the 
arts, including a theatre, cinema and exhibition space. In addition, some 
present at the workshop sessions emphasised the site’s importance as 
a centre for the community, with one resident offering the following 

comment: “In demand space - for community connection and community 
spirit.” 

There was a broad consensus at both sessions that a café/bar/restaurant 
was needed at the site, particularly for refreshments during art events 
and to bring in additional revenue. Linked to this, some participants 
were keen to ensure the sustainability of the site by adding in additional 
revenue opportunities. Suggestions included pop-up shops and/or 
markets. 

Features

Another common theme that participants mentioned during the ‘Keep, 
Change, Add’ exercise, were the types of features they would like to 
see at the site in the future. A number of requests were submitted for 
improved ancillary facilities (including kitchen and bathroom facilities). 
Some examples of participant’s comments are below:

• “All facilities need to be modernised e.g., lighting, heating, air con.”
• “Better facilities - toilets, bar & modern features (5G).”
• “Upgrading catering facilities.”

Some participants said that the future site needs better management 
than it had previously. Suggestions for better management included 
more promotional activity, introduction of an online booking system and 
for the site to be managed by the local community.

Page 21

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

39



Engagement findings
Community workshops

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Redwood Centre and Car Park

Of those participants that mentioned the Redwood Centre during 
the workshops, the majority favoured keeping the site in its current 
capacity. Two participants asked for the Redwood Centre to be treated 
as a separate entity to the Clair Hall building. 

Similar comments were raised in relation to the car park, with the 
majority of participants requesting the car park be retained. Some 
participants added that additional parking at Clair Hall site, with 
suggestions of both a multi-storey car park and underground parking, 
would improve the site. 

Page 22

Example screenshots from the community 
workshops Jamboards

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

40



Engagement findings
Drop-in sessions 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Two physical drop-in sessions were held at the Orchards Centre, 
Haywards Heath. These took place on the 16 September 2021 and 18 
September 2021. Attendees were invited to review the exhibition boards 
present at the sessions and leave their feedback in the form of adding 
‘ideas’ to a physical feedback board, fill in a physical feedback form or 
to use one of the digital methods to leave their feedback. Similar to the 
Engagement HQ feedback, qualitative feedback via free text boxes was 
collected on both the ideas boards and the feedback forms. 

In total, 121 feedback forms and 142 additions to the ideas boards were 
received at the drop-in sessions. The key themes to emerge from the 
feedback received at these two sessions were:

Retain, Refurbish, Redvelop

Of those 148 comments received that mentioned whether to retain, 
refurbish or redevelop the site, the most popular response was that the 
site should be refurbished (mentioned 96 times (65%)). Some examples 
of resident’s comments are below:

• “The facility should be kept and refurbished. The Redwood Centre 
should be included in the refurbishment. The town should also look 
at providing a second venue at the other end of HH. Modernised the 
quality way to get the facility back.”

• “I think Clair Hall should be kept and refurbished as it is vital for our 
community for concerts, plays and films.”

A smaller number of residents said they would like to see the site 

redeveloped to some degree (mentioned 44 times (30%)). One resident 
offered the following comment: “Should be redeveloped for the use of the 
whole community of HH - meetings of local organisations, films, musical 
entertainment etc and car park. HH has grown so much we need a much 
better venue and also better gardens/green space.” Some residents 
used examples of other venues as reference to what they would like, 
the Depot in Lewes and the Hawth in Crawley were mentioned most 
frequently. 

Whilst a majority of comments supported the retaining of the site for 
community use, a small minority of residents said they wanted the site 
kept as it is (mentioned 8 times (5%)). 

“I believe the site should be refurbished but 
not to a degree that detracts from its past and 
desired future as a community orientated, multiuse, 
multifunctional venue.”

A resident of Mid Sussex

Page 23

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

41



Engagement findings
Drop-in sessions 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Future Use

Below is a summarised total of the top ten future uses for Clair Hall site, 
according to the feedback we received at the drop-in sessions.

Of those that commented with a preference for an arts-based use, the most 
popular idea for the site’s future use was as a cinema (mentioned 97 times 
(14%)), closely followed by an arts centre (87 per cent (12%)) and a theatre 
(mentioned 73 times (10%)). A comment that encapsulates this viewpoint is 
below:

“It’s important to have a large hall for theatrical productions, concerts, dancing 
clubs/events. Also, cinema in HH would be great to continue this. Without 
it people will (and currently) have to travel further for events such as barn 
dances, local theatrical productions, concerts etc. This makes events less 
accessible for people and discourages clubs/societies etc from using HH as a 
venue (as there is no venue suitable/big enough).”

Features

In resident feedback, the request for additional and/or improved features at 
the Clair Hall site emerged as a theme. 

Of those 52 comments received, requests for improved ancillary facilities 
(particularly kitchen and bathroom facilities) were mentioned most 
frequently (14 times (27%)). This was closely followed by requests for 
improved management of the site. Suggestions for future management 
included improved marketing of the venue and events, using local volunteers 
to support the day to day running of the site and organising popular events 
programmes for all ages. One resident offered the following comment: 

“The public need to be fully aware of what is available by the marketing team 
and therefore making HH more alive as a place to live.”

Page 24

Figure 6: Top 10 future uses

87

97

73

66

57

58

48

37

27

26

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Arts centre

Cinema

Theatre

Community centre/resource

Concerts/ shows

Meeting/ events space

Café

Bar/ restaurant

Youth provision

Gallery/ exhibition space

NUMBER OF MENTIONS

A wide range of feedback was received for what the site should be used for 
in the future. This included comments in support of an arts centre, health 
hub and leisure centre. Amongst these comments, a strong preference 
was shown for arts-based uses, including for the future site to be used as a 
multifunctional arts centre (mentioned 340 times (49%)). 

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

42



Engagement findings
Drop-in sessions 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Features

Additional features raised in resident comments at the drop-in sessions 
include opening the site towards the park (mentioned 8 times (15%)) and 
installing tiered seating (mentioned 8 times (15%)).

Redwood Centre 

A strong preference was expressed by residents who attended the drop-
in sessions to retain the use of the Redwood Centre for youth groups 
(mentioned 18 times, (67%)) particularly for the Scouts.

The following comment was submitted by a resident:

“Keeping the large car park is vital, as is continuity for the nursery and 
scouts who occupy the Redwood Centre.”

Car Park 

A majority of those who submitted a comment on the Clair Hall car park 
stated the car parking facilities should be retained (mentioned 35 times 
(71%)) and is vital to the future success of the site.

One participant stated that due to the location of the site and proximity 
to local transport links, a large car park at the site is not necessary. The 
resident offered the following comment: 

“The high level of car parking spaces taken value out the site in terms of its 
potential. the location is perfectly accessible and ideal for people visiting by 
train.”

Page 25

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

43



Engagement findings
Youth engagement 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

As part of the engagement process and to encourage youth participation 
in the consultation, a bespoke youth engagement programme, consisting 
of two individual youth groups meetings, was conducted. Originally 
four youth groups were offered a meeting, however due to Covid-19 
restrictions and availability, two groups were unable to meet prior to the 
end of the consultation period. Meetings were held with the following 
two groups:

• 10th Haywards Heath Scouts 
• Haywards Heath College 

A summary of the key themes that emerged during the youth 
engagement programme meetings is below:

Retain, Refurbish, Redevelop

93% of comments (14) received that referred to the future of the Clair 
Hall site said that they would like to see the site refurbished to some 
degree. Some examples of comments received are below:

• “Space did not work for a lot of things - if this could be changed/
altered, the space could be used for more.”

• “Bigger rooms with more functionality, rather than smaller rooms that 
can only be used for one or two things.”

• “Needs modernising.”
• Referencing specifically the Redwood Centre, the following comment 

was offered: “Knock down conservatory & expand centre”. 

One comment received stated that they would like to see the future Clair 

Hall site increased in capacity by adding an additional storey.

Future Use 

Similar to the findings throughout the engagement process, the 
importance of the site’s location (mentioned 7 times, 15%) and requests 
for the future site to be multifunctional (mentioned 8 times, 17%) were 
two frequently raised comments for the future site.

However, an area where the findings differed compared to other 
engagement activities was the frequency of comments received 
requesting the future use of the site to be arts based (mentioned 8 
times, 15%) compared with those for a leisure centre (mentioned 9 times, 
20%). Comments received requesting a leisure centre at the Clair Hall site 
included a modern studio for dance/fitness classes, a sports pavilion and 
a collaboration with Haywards Heath Dolphin Leisure Centre.

Other comments included requests for the site to be retained as 
a community resource and somewhere for groups to meet and to 
introduce a bar/restaurant to the site.

Page 26

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

44



Engagement findings
Youth engagement 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Features 

Requests for improved features was another core theme to arise during 
the youth engagement meetings. The following core themes were raised 
most commonly:

• Improving ancillary facilities, particularly the kitchen and bathroom 
facilities (mentioned 6 times, 18%). 

• Ensuring the future Clair Hall site is sustainable was mentioned five 
times (15%) during stakeholder meetings. Suggestions to make the 
site more environmentally friendly included a green roof, solar panels 
and an inviting outdoor green space. 

• Some participants raised concerns about the current stage in the 
Clair Hall building and suggested that the stage be increased in size 
and lowered in height to ensure the safety of artists performing. 
One individual additionally suggested that a retractable stage would 
enable the space to be more multifunctional and allow for other uses. 

Redwood Centre 

Several comments were received regarding the future of the Redwood 
Centre building:

• One group emphasised that whilst the Redwood Centre is a crucial 
space for its size and storage facilities, additional storage, particularly 
outdoor storage, would be a significant improvement. 

• Two comments raised (13%) suggested incorporating the Redwood 
Centre with the Clair Hall building. The following comment was 
offered: “Clair Hall and the Redwood Centre does not work together as 

a whole - a nice new refurbishment that could link the two could work 
better.”

• Suggestions on how to improve the Redwood Centre for future use 
included an outdoor fire pit and patio, a cosey corner and bifold 
doors. 

Car Park 

Four comments were received on the future of Clair Hall car park. Of 
those comments received, three comments (75%) stated they would like 
the car park retained for community use. The remaining one comment 
(25%) requested for bike racks to be added to encourage active travel.

Page 27

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

45



Engagement findings
Email correspondence 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

76 emails were received with feedback to add to the Clair Hall site 
consultation. The emails covered a range of ideas and plans for the future 
of the site, and some were more focused on certain aspects of the site 
than others. The most commonly raised ideas for the future of the site 
from the correspondence received were:

Retain, Refurbish, Redvelop

Of those emails received, 33 (57%) referenced that they would like to see 
Clair Hall site refurbished to some degree. Examples of emails received 
are below:

• “Systematic upgrades should be instituted over time rather than one big 
refurbishment.”

• “It should be refurbished and reused!”
• “As the existing building has been ideal for this type of use we would 

think that future use of this type could be achieved by means of a major 
refurbishment of the Hall and then better promotion of the facilities 
available.”

23 (40%) emails received stated they would like to see the Clair Hall site 
redeveloped to some degree. 

One resident offered the following comment: 

“I believe the site should be redeveloped to offer multi-functional areas 
with adequate parking facilities on site. A two storey building could offer a 

variety of sized rooms for entertainment and the many clubs that previously 
used Clair Hall.”

A number of emails received commented that they would like The Depot 
in Lewes to act as a model for any future redevelopment/refurbishment.

“The Depot in Lewes is a vibrant arts and social centre, modern and 
extremely popular in the local and wider community, resulting in a popular 
hub with a community feel as well as encouraging people into the town 
to visit. I think that Haywards Heath would definitely benefit from a similar 
venue, adding a further area of interest just down from the Broadway which 
is so popular with many.”

Whilst the emails received agreed that the site should be kept for 
community purposes, a small minority of emails received (2 emails) 
said that they would like to keep the site as it currently is. Participants 
that agreed with this view were keen to emphasise that the vaccination 
programme being undertaken in Clair Hall currently demonstrates that 
the building is fit for purpose.

Page 28

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

46



Engagement findings
Email correspondence 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Future Use

Similar to previous engagement activities, of those emails received 
throughout the engagement process that mentioned the future use 
of the site, the most commonly referenced future use was for the arts 
(mentioned 127 times (38%)). Amongst the arts, the most popular idea 
to arise was for a cinema (mentioned 37 times (11%)), closely followed by 
an arts/entertainment centre (mentioned 33 times (10%)) and a theatre 
(mentioned 23 times (7%)).

After this, the most popular response for the future use of the site was 
to retain its use for the community, as a community centre and resource 
(mentioned 40 times (12%)).

“MSDC should invest in the site and turn it into a modern community hub/
complex as a location for hire that provides facilities covering business, 
cultural, social and community needs.”

Other popular ideas included:

• A multifunctional facility that would cater for the whole community. 
• Retaining the site on its current premises.
• Introducing of a café/bar/restaurant. One resident suggested a café/

bar with a glass frontage towards Clair Park to the rear of the site, as 
a means of generating revenue and increasing footfall. 

• Continuing to offer the site as a local venue available for private hire. 

Features

Of those emails received that referenced what additional features they 
would like to see at the future of the Clair Hall site, the following were 
raised most commonly:

• Improving management of the site (mentioned 12 times (13%)). 
• To open the site towards Clair Park (mentioned 10 times (11%)). 
• Improving ancillary facilities (mentioned 7 times (7%)). 
• Ensuring the future site is disability friendly, including the necessary 

changing and toilet facilities (mentioned 6 times (6%)). 
• Ensuring any future site is environmentally sustainable (mentioned 

4 times (4%)). One participant suggested a sustainable drainage 
system (SuDS), water harvesting and heat pumps.

Page 29

View of Clair Hall site

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

47



Engagement findings
Email and phone calls 

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Redwood Centre

From the emails received, 12 comments were raised in relation to the 
Redwood Centre. The majority of those comments supported the 
retention of the Redwood Centre for youth groups, and in particular, for 
the 10th Haywards Heath Scouts (mentioned 9 times (75 per cent)). 

Two comments received suggested the Age UK centre should be 
relocated to the site, due to limited parking and poor pedestrian access 
at its present site. 

Car Park 

Several suggestions were raised for the future of the car park at Clair Hall 
site, the following were those most frequently raised:

• Ensuring car parking facilities are retained at Clair Hall site 
(mentioned 12 times (36%)). 

• Seven comments (21%) raised suggested introducing more parking. 
• Building of an underground car park (mentioned 4 times (12%)) to 

save space. 
• Using the car park for an intermittent local produce and craft market 

(mentioned 3 times (9%)). 

Phone calls

25 phone calls were received throughout the engagement process and 
six left substantive feedback for the future of the site. Other phone calls 
received covered a range of different questions, which were responded 
to in kind. 

The most commonly raised themes from the correspondence were:

• Keen to stress the importance of retaining the site as a community 
resource.

• The current site as perfectly situated in the town that should not be 
moved from this location. 

• Request to redevelop the site in line with venues in Brighton and 
Lewes. 

• Introducing of a bar/restaurant, with one individual raising the 
potential to increase the attractiveness of the venue by opening 
towards Clair Park. 

Page 30

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

48



Engagement findings
Final observations

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Based on all the feedback received, final observations have been drawn 
for Mid Sussex District Council’s consideration.

I.  Among most participants there was a firm recognition that the 
current site required work to ensure the buildings are fit for purpose. 
Among those who participated, there was a preference to see the 
site refurbished than redeveloped. Many participants stressed the 
need to keep the site in its current location and suggested The Depot 
in Lewes could act as a model of what could be achieved at the Clair 
Hall site.

II.  Strong views were expressed that the future site should be 
retained in its current use - as a multifunctional community centre 
and resource. This being said, partipants showed a clear desire 
for improved functionality of the space, with popular suggestions 
including retractable and tiered seating, and partition walling. 

III. Participants who commented on the future use of the site 
expressed a desire for an arts/entertainment facility, with many 
highlighting the current lack of provision for the arts in the area as 
a reason to provide this at the Clair Hall site. In particular, a cinema, 
theatre and space for concerts/shows were mentioned the most in 
participant comments.

IV.  Further popular requests for the future use of the Clair Hall site 
included a café/bar/restaurant to provide an additional source of 
revenue, meeting/events space that is publicly available to hire, and 
creating a safe space for the young people of Mid Sussex to come 
and enjoy.

V.  Requests for additional facilities at the Clair Hall site formed a 
significant proportion of feedback received. The most frequently 
referenced requests were for improved ancillary facilities (especially 
kitchen, bathroom, and technological facilities), to open Clair 
Hall site towards Clair Park, to improve the management of the 
site (particularly marketing), the introduction of tiered seating 
and to make the necessary improvements to ensure the site is 
environmentally sustainable.

VI. Although the majority of feedback received focused on the Clair 
Hall building, comments were received on the Redwood Centre. The 
strong consensus among participant feedback was the Redwood 
Centre should continue to host local youth groups, especially the 
District Scouts. Feedback praised the size of the centre, as well as its 
kitchen and storage facilities.

VII. A majority of participants that commented on the future of Clair 
Hall site car park requested that the car parking facilities be retained. 
Some participants suggested that more car parking would be 
advantageous and moving the car park underground could free up 
additional space for the site. 

We would finally like to thank all of those that have participated 
throughout this process for your thoughtful feedback and contributions.

Page 31

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

49



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix A 
Engagement HQ site 

Appendix B 
Feedback Word Cloud 

Appendix C 
First CEG meeting Jamboards

Appendix D 
Second CEG meeting Jamboards

Appendix E 
Community workshops Jamboards

Appendix F 
First community flyer 

Appendix G
Second community flyer

Appendix H
Flyer distribution area

Appendix I 
Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements.

Appendix J
List of organisations contacted and invited to meet about 
the project. 

Page 32

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

50



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix A 

Engagement HQ site 

Page 33

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

51



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix B 

Feedback wordcloud 

Page 34

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

52



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix C 

First CEG meeting Jamboards

Page 35

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

53



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix C 

First CEG meeting Jamboards

Page 36

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

54



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix D 

Second CEG meeting Jamboards

Page 37

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

55



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix D 

Second CEG meeting Jamboards

Page 38

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

56



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix E 

Examples of the Community workshop Jamboards

Page 39

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

57



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix E 

Examples of the Community workshop Jamboards

Page 40

To view all the community workshop Jamboards, please visit the 
Engagement HQ site for more - https://engage.midsussex.gov.uk/

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

58



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix F 

First community flyer 

Page 41

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

59



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix G 

Second community flyer 

Page 42

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

60



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix H 

Flyer distribution area

Page 43

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

61



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix I

Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements

As part of the final meeting of the CEG, the group members were invited to 
submit a final statement to the Future of Clair Hall Site consultation. These 
statements have been collected and included in this appendix. If you would 
like to read a full analysis of the CEG findings, please visit pages 18-19 in 
this report.

Page 44

Colin Kenward – Save Clair Hall Group 

“We believe that the following should happen:

1. Planning for the opening of Clair Hall should be commenced at the earliest 
opportunity regardless of the outcome to the public consultation.

2. That Clair Hall be put under new management and reopened when able 
for public use. (We note the recent adoption by MSDC of its ‘Community 
Management and Asset Transfer Policy’) 

3. A period of structured refurbishment and upgrades should be commenced 
and managed in such a way as to not lead to unnecessary protracted 
closures of the Venue.

4. MSDC should invest in the refurbishment and ongoing upkeep with the 
revenue and the monies that it already holds which was set aside for Clair 
Hall. Furthermore MSDC should actively look for and explore avenues for 
grants and other subsidies to support Clair Hall. 

5. It is not environmentally sound to demolish and rebuild a perfectly 
serviceable community building and this would not be in the interest of the 
public purse. This is backed up by recent studies and work undertaken by 
the Royal Academy of Engineering.

6. The Councils proposal for the car park belonging to Clair Hall to be made 
into a ‘Pay and Display’ facility should be implemented. However, the revenue 
from this scheme should be invested into Clair Hall.

7. A new building will put, we believe an enormous strain on the public 
purse. We strongly believe that the refurbishment of Clair Hall is the more 
economically viable option.  

We agree with MSDC’s designation of Clair Hall as an ‘opportunity site’ as 
highlighted in their ‘Master Plan’ but believe it should be used as an opportunity 
for the community and not the council.”

Lauren Lloyd – Mid Sussex Voluntary Action

“Mid Sussex Voluntary Action represents 450 charities and voluntary groups 
in Mid Sussex and as such, the priority must be a space fit for usage by a wide 
cross-section of the community. Appropriate and accessible community space 
is in short supply in Mid Sussex and we want to see continued provision of 
hireable space for the voluntary sector and wider community to be maintained 
at the current site until such time as Clair Hall is renovated OR replaced with a 
purpose built community asset. Community meeting space is paramount for the 
voluntary sector as we emerge from the pandemic; it allows groups to meet and 
socialise and provide a service to the community. 

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

62



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix I

Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements

Page 45

Lauren Lloyd – Mid Sussex Voluntary Action

In particular, we advocate for Arts and Entertainment space which is in short 
supply in the District, and we encourage MSDC to ensure that in no uncertain 
terms should the community and voluntary sector be left without the 
performance space at Clair Hall, even during a building process which can take 
years to complete. In summary, we would like to see the continuous provision of 
community space on the Clair Hall site, whether it is in the existing building or in 
a new structure, and this provision should be community-led, not-for-profit and 
with the interests of the existing users at the heart any future changes.”

Marion Wilcock – Haywards Heath Community CIC

“Clair Hall is not a profit making, income or capital producing asset for Mid 
Sussex District Council. 

Clair Hall is a vital Community Asset. 

It was built with community money for the benefit of the community. 

Local Authorities have a duty to promote strong communities with essential 
social infrastructure. In addition to basic needs such as public health it 
should provide opportunities for recreation, creativity and artistic expression, 
community identity, local engagement and cooperation. 

This is recognised by MSDC themselves, who have registered Clair Hall as 
an Asset of Community Value under the Localism Act 2011. An ACV is legally 
defined as: A building or other land is an asset of community value if its main 
use has recently been or is presently used to further the social wellbeing or 
social interests of the local community and could do so in the future. That just 
about says it all.

As the population of Haywards Heath and surrounding areas increases 
significantly, the need for a facility which provides adequate meeting space, 
event space and performance facilities becomes ever more important, not 
dispensable.

The fact that it has possible to support the work of the NHS vaccination 
programme, which has been an outstanding success for not just for the 
immediate Haywards Heath area but wider mid Sussex demonstrates, just how 
critical this building is to the community and the locality NHS. 

The fact that during works to the MSDC Council Chamber, meetings are having 
to be held outside Haywards Heath demonstrates that claims there are 20 other 
suitable venues within a mile of Clair Hall, are simply not correct. 

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

63



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix I

Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements

Page 46

Marion Wilcock – Haywards Heath Community CIC

There are lessons to be learned from the Covid Pandemic, which are most 
pertinent to Clair Hall. Residents, both young and older, suffer in isolation. They 
need to be able to engage with others, whether passively enjoying activities 
provided or equally importantly, being actively engaged in supporting and 
providing them. The success of the marshals at Clair Hall has confirmed that 
there is a vast army of volunteers who would be willing and indeed would 
benefit from being able to support events at Clair Hall.

It is accepted that Clair Hall needs some updating, but this could be readily 
achieved, to keep the building fit for purpose until such time as a more 
aspirational building can be designed, budgeted for and funded.

MSDC should not simply ignore community stakeholders, but listen to their 
concerns, genuinely consider their suggestions and work in partnership with 
them for the benefit of the whole community. 

So, it is disappointing to read that the new policy of MSDC is to require 
Community assets must be let on a Full Repairing and Insuring Lease at a 
commercial rent. This might almost be regarded as a policy designed to ensure 
that the continued use of Clair Hall fails. 

The suggestion that the Council is obliged to obtain “best value” is not correct. 
There are specific exemptions to this general rule which include inter alia the 
“the promotion or improvement of social well-being”. 

This policy flies in the face of the approach of every other local authority in the 
region including Lewes, East Grinstead, Horsham, Guildford, Crawley, Brighton, 
Chichester to name but a few. 

It is difficult to understand why MSDC have turned their face away from working 
with and promoting local community groups.

Haywards Heath Community CIC would urge MDSC to turn over a new page and 
work with community groups and make the best of the community asset they 
have rather than working towards selling or leasing it off to the highest bidder.

Clair Hall is not a profit making, income or capital producing asset for Mid Sussex 
District Council.

Clair Hall is a vital Community Asset.”

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

64



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix I

Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements

Page 47

Steven Trice – Haywards Heath Town Council

“Generally

Clair Hall must be a state of the art cultural and community facility for the 
residents of Haywards Heath and Mid Sussex. Any facilities must provide at least
the provision currently available, but the Town Council believes it must cater for 
other uses so to ensure that the building is financially viable and sustainable in 
the long term.

In relation to the ‘Future of Clair Hall’ consultation.

What sort of uses are needed in the future?

The uses to be supported by Clair Hall should be primarily based on a multi-
functional building set up which provides space and the ability to provide.

• Theatre and cinema. An ever-growing Town must have a space for residents 
to visit and enjoy these cultural activities.

• The provision of a studio and rehearsal space for the performing arts, music 
and dance.  Local organisations and touring companies/performers need this 
space to rehearse, teach and develop the arts.

• Exhibition space to provide for local artists to display their work and to 
enable the display of historical information of the Town.

• Meeting and conferencing facilities for business and community groups.  
The building cannot lay dormant during the week 9am – 5pm so the offer 
of meeting and conferencing facilities will not only offer such to local 
organisations/businesses, but to those from further afield.

• The appropriate facilities within the new building to provide for youth/
teenage activities being cognisance of the facilities/services offered by the 
Redwood Centre.

• The aforementioned must be supported by a food and drink offer.  The 
provision of a bar and café in the building and a restaurant for those who 
would just wish to visit to eat.

All of the above should be provided in a new state of the art building that 
has the most up to date technology and must be built in a sustainable and 
environmentally friendly manner (carbon neutral). 

Should the existing building be redeveloped or refurbished?

Haywards Heath Town Council strongly supports the reprovision of Clair Hall to 
provide a modern entertainment and community centre for Haywards Heath and 
Mid Sussex.

The Town Council clarifies its position that Clair Hall should be reprovisioned 
in the form of a new, aspirational fit for purpose future-proofed, sustainable 
building, however we need to be absolutely certain that the existing facilities 
at Clair Hall are safeguarded by a clear, binding commitment by MSDC of how, 
where and when they will replace it. When this is provided, Clair Hall can be 
demolished and the building we need for our Town can be rebuilt. Meanwhile it 
should be retained with minimum functionality and minimum expenditure.

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

65



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix I

Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements

Page 48

Steven Trice – Haywards Heath Town Council

Are there any services that we could help address through the Clair Hall 
site?

To make, what would be a valued, community space to be successful in the long 
term and underpin the business plan, there must be consideration of services to 
complement the night-time and weekend offer. These could include:

• Shared office space.
• Small gym pods and specialised gym.
• The moving of civic service to the site such as the Town Council and Library.
• Moving of the Cricket Club facilities into the building.

What do you like about the site and what could be improved?

What is liked about the site?

• Location of the site as a gateway to the Town.  The station quarter area 
is one of the main gateways to the Town and gives a first impression of 
Haywards Heath to visitors.  There is, in normal times, a great passing trade 
from commuters.  The current Clair Hall does not capture any of this, but 
there is an opportunity to capture trade in the future whether it is a food 
offer, meeting use, or the primary cultural facility.

• Sustainable Transport links – station/bus interchange.  The location offers 
the ability for residents and people out of the Town to easily access the 
site by sustainable forms of transport.

• Linkage and proximity to Clair Park. Clair Park is a wonderful back drop to 
the site as one the Town’s main open spaces and green lung.

• Neighbouring Premier Inn, which could provide accommodation for visitors 
to meetings and conferences.

• Linkage and proximity to Clair Park. Clair Park is a wonderful back drop to 
the site as one the Town’s main open spaces and green lung.

• Neighbouring Premier Inn, which could provide accommodation for visitors 
to meetings and conferences.

What could be improved:

• The landscaping and entrance to the site is unappealing and unwelcoming.  
The entrance should be improved/re-landscaped to make it a more 
aesthetically pleasing, make more of a statement ‘that the building is there, 
and what it offers’. There is also the opportunity to rationalise the area to 
provide a small enhancement on parking spaces.  It is also felt that car 
parking should be provided below ground to support the rise in usage that 
the Town Council’s representation is promoting.

• The linkage and association of the current building to Clair Park is a huge 
missed opportunity.  There is scope to open up and make the building 
a place to overlook and enjoy one of the Town’s green lungs.  This could 
work in conjunction with the Cricket Club facilities/needs and offer the 
provision of a view from a bar/restaurant and café. Obviously, any break 
into the park would have to be undertaken sensitively.”

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

66



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix I

Community Engagement Group (CEG) members final 
statements

Page 49

Tony Pearson - Mid Sussex District Scouts

“The following are key points that we think need to be considered for any future 
development:

• It needs to be possible to have at least two users on the site meeting 
completely separately from each other. This means separate entrances, 
kitchen and toilet facilities, services, etc. This ensures safeguarding matters 
can be followed without users of different parts meeting in shared areas. This 
is what we have now with Clair Hall being separate to The Redwood Centre 
and this is essential.

• We need a main room/hall of at least 130 sqm that has double ceiling 
heights as opposed to say a residential single height ceiling. In addition, to 
this other adjacent rooms of at least 60 sqm and 25 sqm are needed. These 
are the floor areas we have at present, in addition to storage space, that 
make our current facility at the Redwood so useful to us.

• Car parking needs to be available.
• Direct access to Clair Park would be desirable.
• An outside area associated with each separate user’s indoor space would be 

useful.
• A sustainable design to ensure ongoing operating costs for electricity etc. 

are reduced to save charitable users’ money.

• A community use on the site for Scouting will mean that we can keep 
providing our activities for around 150 young people in the area. If it is not 
there then these young people will miss out.”

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

67



Engagement findings
Appendices

DECEMBER 2021

Consultation Report

Appendix J 

The organisations contacted and invited to meet 
about the project.

Page 50

Each of these organisations were informed about the engagement 
process, and invited to encourage their members to participate in the 
process:

• Alliance for Better Healthcare 
• Amaze 
• Citizens Advice (Community Champions) 
• Disability Access East Grinstead 
• Haywards Heath Business Association 
• Haywards Heath Community CIC 
• Haywards Heath College 
• Haywards Heath Islamic Centre 
• Haywards Heath Rotary Club 
• Haywards Heath Town Council 
• Haywards Heath Town Team CIC 
• Haywards Heath Ward Councillors 
• Kangaroos 
• Mid Sussex District Council Councillors 
• Mid Sussex District Scouts

• Mid Sussex Voluntary Action 
• Oakland Community College 
• Older People’s Council 
• Save Clair Hall campaign group 
• Sussex National Association of Flower Arrangement Societies (NAFAS) 
• The Harlands Primary School 
• The Weald Theatre Group 
• West Sussex County Council Councillors for Haywards Heath 
• 4sight 

C
abinet - 20 D

ecem
ber 2021

68



Cabinet - 20 December 2021

Document is Restricted

69

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To confirm Minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 and 29 November 2021.
	Minutes , 29/11/2021 Cabinet

	5 Clair Hall Site.
	Appendix 1 Consultation and Engagement Report

	7 To confirm Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting held on 29 November 2021.

